Chapter 12 Orthopedic and Physical Ability Issues



Robyn Gisbert and Dana Judd

Contents

Introduction.	241
Orthopedic Conditions: Considerations and Suggestions	244
Lower Back Pain.	244
Recommended Positions for Patients in Position for Penetration	245
Recommendations for Those in Position to Receive.	246
Arthritis and Total Joint Replacement.	247
Knee Pain.	248
Hip Pain	249
Neurologic Conditions: Considerations and Suggestions	251
Spinal Cord Injury.	251
Stroke	253
Degenerative Neurological Conditions.	255
Medical Conditions: Considerations and Suggestions	255
Conclusion.	256
References	256

Introduction

The World Association for Sexual Health posits sexuality as a basic human right and an essential part of healthy life [1]. Sexual activity can be an indicator of quality of life and functional status [2]. Further, the World Health Organization's Classification of Functioning, Disability, and Health considers participation in sexual relationships as a major factor to describe and measure health and disability [3]. Acute and chronic health conditions to varying degrees may diminish quality of life and abilities to engage in meaningful activity.

R. Gisbert $(\boxtimes) \cdot D$. Judd

Physical Therapy Program, Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, USA e-mail: Robyn.Gisbert@cuanschutz.edu; Dana.Judd@cuanschutz.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022

J. Truglio et al. (eds.), Sexual and Reproductive Health, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-94632-6_12

The approach to patients with physical or cognitive disabilities from congenital and genetic conditions is discussed in Chap. 11. This chapter will focus on acquired physical conditions and non-congenital chronic illness. Additionally, discussions of sexual positions that limit pain and discomfort for patients with musculoskeletal positions will be described in this chapter.

Events such as joint replacement surgeries, spinal cord injury, stroke, or myocardial infarction can result in impairments of body structure and function including muscle weakness, decreased range of motion, pain, balance deficits, and limited activity tolerance. These impairments can lead to difficulty performing daily tasks and alter participation in life, including sexual activity. Similarly, chronic health conditions such as osteoarthritis and coronary artery disease may result in adaptive changes that limit physical abilities. Whether affected temporarily or chronically with disability, people remain sexual beings. Sexual problems are common and associated with a myriad of health conditions [4]. Patients and partners have concerns about sexual activity in the context of health care. However, the topic of sexual activity is often overlooked and clinicians are underprepared for conversations that would best serve their patients [5–10].

There is a lack of materials available for counseling on physical ability and sexual activity. Those which exist are predominately considered from a heteronormative point of view with very little literature available in relation to same-sex couples [10]. There is a clear and important need for the development of clinician knowledge, skills, and materials for education regarding sexual functioning and disability. Clinicians should take an active role in investigating the impact of health conditions on sexual health and make recommendations to address concerns. In addition to clinician recommendations, peer support and guidance have been effective in some health populations with persons benefitting from learning about sexual functioning from individuals with similar injuries [11].

In order to meet the best needs of patients, providers should consider strategies around history taking, physical examination, and interventions related to sexual health. Several models exist (e.g., PLISSIT, PLEASURE, ALARM, BETTER) to prepare clinicians for therapeutic conversations about sexual health [12]. The models elucidate the importance for primary care clinicians to have the capacity to build rapport, giving permission for patients to share sexual health concerns in a nonjudgmental and confidential environment. This requires providers consider their own knowledge, comfort, and biases as related to sex and disability. Two models most commonly referred to in the literature to initiate conversations around sexual health and physical activity are the PLISSIT and BETTER models. The PLISSIT (Permission, Limited Information, Specific Suggestions, Intensive Therapy) model developed by JS Annon, in 1976 [13], expects that all primary care clinicians be able to validate that sexual health is a legitimate concern and topic to discuss and, as such, be able to provide preliminary information on the topic limited information that, when shared, can empower patients to understand their conditions and potentially remedy problems. The BETTER (Bring up the topic, Explain your concerns, Tell patients you can help, consider Timing of conversation, provide Education, document in medical Record) model, developed and utilized largely for use in

oncology, echoes the communication strategy and education components of the PLISSIT model. In addition, the BETTER model reminds primary care clinicians to consider the timing of sexual counseling and the importance of recording assessments and interventions about sexual health in patients' medical records [12]. Both models can be reasonably applied to other populations and patients.

Patients with physical limitations affecting daily life and mobility may also present to providers with challenges for physical examination procedures for sexual health, such as a pelvic examination. Evidence suggests that patients with disabilities are less likely to have a full and complete physical examination due accessibility of the examination room and physician training [14]. To improve access and care, clinicians may benefit from learning from persons with disabilities and rehabilitation therapists about safe transfers to a standard examination table. Patients with mobility issues may need more time, physical assistance, or adaptive equipment such as a step stool to safely transfer to a traditional examination table. To ensure patient safety during an exam, other considerations may include use of a lower table, a wider table to facilitate rolling, or use alternate positions to the traditional dorsal lithotomy position, such as side lying, or altering the position of the legs while supine. Modified footrest positions, such as placing footrest under the knees or lower legs, rather than the feet, will lessen the amount of hip and knee flexion and may be more comfortable for patients with back pain from lumbar disc herniation who may have symptom exacerbation in spinal flexion. Additionally, modifying the footrest position to allow the patient to have one leg up and one leg down may achieve a more extended spine position, while also providing access to pelvic area for examination. Alternatively, providing modifications to allow for a neutral or flexed lumbar spine may be helpful for patients with lumbar spine stenosis, who have more comfort in spinal flexion. If footrest position modification is not possible, wedges and towels under the sacrum to facilitate spinal flexion, or rolled and placed under the lumbar spine to facilitate spinal flexion may offer support and comfort. These may also be used for other patient populations who need accommodations to the traditional position. For patients with neurological injuries, clinicians will want to use an integrated knowledge of the patient's sensory and motor status during the physical examination. Patients with impaired sensory and motor status may be at increased risk for tissue damage of insensate areas from positioning and from examination procedures. It is recommended that clinicians visualize vulnerable bony prominences and inspect skin and internal tissues before and after procedures. Providers may also need to modify the sexual health physical examination for patients with medical conditions. Specifically, patients with gastroesophogeal reflux disease and related gastrointestinal disorders should be examined in a modified supine position with the trunk and head supported in flexion. Likewise, individuals recovering from cardiac procedures may have similar restrictions to avoid a full supine position. Access to adjustable tables will aid in achieving this semi-reclined position, as can the use of wedges, towels, and pillows.

In addition to considerations for communicating and examining patients, providers should be prepared to offer specific advice that is individualized to a patient's needs and concerns regarding sexual health. This may include advice for positioning to protect joints, care for neurogenic bladder and bowel functioning, or use of adaptive equipment. Finally, there are specialty clinicians that can provide intensive therapy. These include sex therapists, psychiatrists, urologists, surrogates, and other licensed practitioners with unique training in sexual health for additional and targeted interventions. Primary care clinicians, as part of the team with the patient at the center, can apply these models and the specific suggestions that follow to address sexual functioning when physical ability is impaired.

Orthopedic Conditions: Considerations and Suggestions

Pain from muscle, joints, and bones, including arthritis, is a common complaint among adults. In a recent survey, more than half of adults in the United States reported musculoskeletal pain [15] and estimates suggest that between 60% and 77% of all injuries involve the musculoskeletal system. Most commonly, adults report low back pain, knee pain, and neck pain, in that order [16]. Further, almost 24 million adults report a diagnosis of arthritis [17]. Living with musculoskeletal pain and injury is often accompanied by changes in joint mobility, muscle strength, balance, and flexibility and, therefore, results in limitations in activity. These limitations include difficulty carrying out basic self-care, and home- and work-related activities of daily living. It has been widely reported that chronic low back pain is associated with considerable disability and that an estimated 44% of individuals living with arthritis report activity limitations related to their diagnosis [17]. Included in these reported activity limitations are reports of decreased sexual activity due to pain with sex, decreases in libido, and decreases in satisfaction in sex [18–20]. Although it is likely that most musculoskeletal injuries and musculoskeletal pain effects participation in sexual activity, patients with lower extremity pain and spinal pain are reporting more difficulties participating in sexual activity. For example, patients with low back pain report more difficulty with sex that those with neck pain [21] and a higher percentage of patients with hip arthritis and hip arthroplasty report disruptions in their sexual activity compared to patients who have arthritis in other areas of the body [19, 20]. Therefore, the following information will provide common presentations and specific suggestions related to lower extremity and spine pain and injuries; however, the principles behind the suggestions can be extrapolated to any individual living with musculoskeletal pain or injury.

Lower Back Pain

Low back pain is among the most common medical conditions for adults over the age of 18 such that almost one third of adults in the United States are currently experiencing back pain [15]. It is also the most common condition for which patient

seek medical care and negatively affects individuals' ability to participate in work and activities of daily living [15]. Individuals with low back pain report interruption of regular domestic chores, recreation and exercise, sleep, and social and leisure activities. Additionally, individuals suffering from low back pain report changes in work productivity, from modifying regular tasks at work, to not being able to participate in work altogether [22]. Not only does low back pain result in challenges with physical function, but it also results in challenges with social relationships. Individuals often report difficulty with relationships due to changes in their social roles due to pain, difficulty with social interactions, and in maintaining sexual function [22].

Studies suggest that half to three-quarters of patients with low back pain report a negative impact on their sexual activity, resulting in decreased satisfaction, sexual drive, and frequency [5, 21]. Yet, less than one-third of individuals report discussing sex with their healthcare provider. This is despite the fact that individuals with low back pain expect their clinician to provide ways improve their sexual activity and feel that it should be a routine part of managing low back pain [5]. A large proportion of patients report pain during intercourse—position was a major concern, and women more often report pain during sex than men [5, 21]. However, there is variability in the literature as to the specific influence of position on pain.

A potential source of this variability lies in the complexity of low back pain, its etiology, and the way it manifests in individuals. Each person likely experiences low back pain differently; therefore, it would be impossible to provide one single recommendation to patients regarding their sexual activity. One approach to managing the variable presentations of low back pain is determining the motions and positions which provoke a patient's pain, which is a critical part of the successful subgrouping for treatment method, which is considered best practice currently [23]. This can be done as a part of a physical examination or could also be elucidated with a thorough patient interview in which patients could be able to report activities or positions that worsen pain. Clinicians should ascertain whether their patients' pain is exacerbated in positions of spinal flexion or spinal extension, the two most common joint motions identified during sex. In some case, patients may report exacerbation in both positions, making recommendations more difficult. This information is imper-

The following discussion will provide specific suggestions on coital position for individuals with low back pain, depending on their position of exacerbated symptoms. For this discussion, positions for those in position for penetration and those in position to receive will be provided.

Recommended Positions for Patients in Position for Penetration

For individuals whose pain is exacerbated in flexion, two rear entry methods are recommended, with the patient tall-kneeling behind the partner, who would be in quadruped, as it requires little flexion range of motion. The least amount of flexion is required with the quadruped partner leaning forward on their arms. It has been noted that even small changes in a partner's position is likely to change the mechanics for the patient in this position, so advising on their partners position is also important [24]. In addition, face-to-face position with the individual in a push-up position, is also recommended due to the fact that the spine will remain mostly in extension [24]. Face-to-face position in which the person's position is lower and weight is on the forearms, and side-lying positions would be contraindicated for patients whose symptoms are aggravated in flexion due the range of motion into flexion in these positions. However, for individuals whose symptoms are aggravated in extension, these positions are likely to be positions of comfort, while the tallkeeling and extended face-to-face positions would be contraindicated. For individuals whose symptoms are exacerbated in both flexion and extension, it will be important to think about advising patients on their mechanics of penetration, since all positions may be potentially aggravating. Specifically, counseling individuals to maintain a neutral spine (neither flexion nor extension) during penetration by moving through hip flexion, rather than spinal flexion, will decrease pain since the spine remains relatively still [24].

Recommendations for Those in Position to Receive

For patients whose pain is exacerbated in spinal flexion, three rear-entry methods are recommended as they place the individual in a position of more spinal extension, thus avoiding the painful spinal range of motion. Those positions are quadruped, side-lying, and quadruped with weight on the forearms [25]. Alternatively, face-to-face positions are contraindicated, as they promote spinal flexion. In fact, the more a person's hips are flexed, the more the spine will flex. Therefore, any face-to-face position in which the patient's feet leave the surface would be further contraindicated due to the extreme amounts of spinal flexion range of motion that position would induce. However, for patients whose pain is exacerbated in extension, a face-to-face position would be recommended, particularly with more spinal flexion, and the rear-entry methods, especially quadruped, would be contraindicated. Patients with pain in both flexion and extension should be counseled to move more from their hips than their spine to maintain comfort [25].

It is not reasonable to think that all patients seeking advice for sexual position would be limited to the positions suggested above. Therefore, it will be important for clinicians to have honest conversations with patients about their sexual activity and advise accordingly. A key principle guiding the advice for patients will be to avoid coital positions which would put patients' spines in positions of pain provocation, regardless of their desired position. This discussion may also include alterations to their practiced positions or use of pillows, wedges, or other props to achieve a comfortable spinal posture for sex.

Arthritis and Total Joint Replacement

Arthritis should be considered a major heath concern as the population continues to age, as it will negatively affect the quality of life for more than 34 million individuals [26]. The consequences of living with arthritis are multifactorial. Negative effects on both physical and mental health have been documented [27]. In particular, deficits in muscle strength and muscle mass [28, 29] and range of motion [30], and difficulty with activities of daily living are common [31]. Further, due to high pain levels and significant stiffness [30], many individuals are physically inactive [32]. In addition, difficulties in sexual activity have been reported due to hip and knee arthritis in the literature, negatively effecting participation and satisfaction in sex [7, 20]. Difficulties with sexual activity is correlated with poor reported quality of life for individuals with arthritis, as patients with sexual activity limitations report poorer general function compared with peers who do not report sexual activity limitations due to their arthritis [33].

A large percentage of individuals with hip arthritis report difficulty participating in sexual activity and report difficulty with sex more often than patients with knee arthritis [19, 20, 34]. Importantly, decline in sexual activity due to symptoms of their arthritis has been reported to occur as early as the fourth decade [33]. Two major consequences of arthritis are joint stiffness and pain, which are both likely contributing to declines in sexual activity and satisfaction in patients with arthritis. However, it is possible that stiffness affects patients with hip arthritis to a greater degree. In a study of patients with diagnosed hip arthritis, patients who reported limitations in their sexual activity also reported higher levels of pain and stiffness and had more limited range of motion compared to those with hip arthritis who didn't report sexual activity limitations [34]. Of patients who report declines in sexual activity, stiffness due to their hip arthritis was the primary impairment associated with difficulty during sex [19]. While stiffness was also reported as a factor interfering with sexual activity with those with knee arthritis, pain also played a large role in declining sexual activity. In particular, patients reported the necessity to change positions during sex, primarily due the inability to kneel during sex due to pain [20]. The impact of hip and knee arthritis on sexual activity is a major factor, as between 66% and 82% of patients with hip arthritis, more women than men, and 45% of patients with knee arthritis report difficulty with sex [19, 20, 34], and of those who report difficulties engaging in sex, tension in their relationships is also reported [33]. However, a large percentage of physicians report that they do not discuss sex with their patients [7].

Commonly, patients will undergo total hip or total knee arthroplasty to ameliorate the pain and disability of their arthritis. Total hip and total knee arthroplasty are considered successful surgeries and typically result in improved quality of life for individuals with end-stage arthritis. Generally, undergoing total hip or knee arthroplasty also improves sexual activity; however, some limitations in sexual activity remain [19, 20]. The largest reduction in sexual activity occurs in the first year after surgery, especially in the first few months following surgery. Most patients report ability to return to sexual activity 1–4 months after surgery, with patients after total knee arthroplasty able to return sooner than those with total hip arthroplasty [7, 19, 20]. Kneeling remains an issue for patients after total knee arthroplasty, which potentially affects sexual activity as it did before surgery. However, patients after total hip arthroplasty have larger concerns regarding pain, stiffness, and risks of dislocation, complicating their return to normal sexual activity. To date, the posterolateral approach remains the most common approach to performing total hip arthroplasty [35]. This approach incises and divides the posterior hip musculature, leaving the hip particularly vulnerable to dislocation when in position of extreme flexion, internal rotation, and adduction. To decrease the risk of dislocation following surgery, range of motion precautions are often prescribed which likely interfere with sexual activity. Despite this, most surgeons believe patients can safely resume sexual activity 1 month following surgery.

To account for pain, stiffness, and postsurgical precautions, specific suggestions for positioning during sex can be provided. Finding positions to ease pain, accommodate stiffness, and promote safety will provide patients with the necessary tools to avoid declines in sexual activity due to these factors. While these suggestions come primarily from the postoperative literature, they can easily be translated to patients with arthritis of the hip or knee.

Knee Pain

The most common pain complaint during sex in individuals with knee pain is in a kneeling position. Pain during kneeling could be due to pressure in the anterior part of the knee that is painful or could be due to stiffness in the knee, where complete knee flexion is not possible. While it could be simple to advise patients to avoid kneeling positions during sex, it's worthwhile to note that of patients with knee pain and stiffness who reported declines in sexual activity, a primary reason noted was that a change in position led to less satisfying sex, and changed their participation in sexual activity [20]. Therefore, it is important to be able to provide specific suggestions that would allow patients to more comfortably assume a kneeling position during sex, thus allowing them to participate as they desire.

For patients reporting pain with kneeling, either in a tall-kneeling or quadruped position, additional padding under the knees will provide a softer surface to kneel on, thus decreasing pain and pressure in a kneeling position. Additionally, considering positions that unweights the knees could be helpful. For example, individuals who are in a position of receiving their partner in a quadruped position, using a rounded bolster under the torso will shift weight away from the knees, decreasing pressure and pain on the anterior surface of the knee. Alternatively, for patients with difficulty kneeling due to stiffness and inability to assume full knee flexion, assuming a position in which the receiving partner is on top may be difficult. Patients may need to adjust their body position to be more upright in their torso to decrease the demand in knee flexion or consider using small pads or bolsters behind the knees to rest on, thus decreasing the angle of knee flexion while in this position. Finally, for patients willing to alter their position during sex, positions in which the individual and partner are standing, or seated, or in supine or prone positions will also be protective for a painful or stiff knee.

Hip Pain

The presence of hip arthritis often leads to pain and stiffness, which arguably has a larger impact than knee pain and stiffness on sexual activity due to the mechanics of engaging in sex. Often, individuals voluntarily self-limit sexual activity due to pain and stiffness but also due to fear of injury or insufficient knowledge about safe positions and options for participation [33]. Individuals engaging in vaginal receptive sex with hip pain report more difficulties with sexual activity and report difficulties with sex sooner after the onset of pain [33, 34]. Individuals with hip arthritis who report difficulty with sex also demonstrate limitations in hip flexion, abduction, and external rotation range of motion, limiting options for positions during sex [34]. This makes supine positions in which they would receive their partner painful or impossible and may also eliminate the option to assume a position on top of a supine partner, due to the same range of motion concerns. Therefore, information regarding positions which do not require large amounts of hip flexion, abduction, and external rotation range of motion will be helpful to patients wishing to maintain their sexual activity. Positions which have been identified as safe for individuals with hip pathology and that also minimize hip flexion, abduction, and external rotation are likely a rear entry method such as both partners standing, both partners supine or in partial side-lying positions, which require little range of motion in these difficult positions [36]. The requirement of large amounts of hip flexion, abduction, and external rotation to participate in sex appears to be unique to cisgender women and transgender women engaged in vaginal intercourse, which could be why cisgender men with hip arthritis do not typically report difficulties with sex or often need to alter positions to participate in sex [33].

As mentioned previously, patients often choose to undergo total hip arthroplasty to treat the pain and stiffness due to hip arthritis. Undergoing hip arthroplasty improves participation in sexual activity for a good percentage of patients, but not for all patients [7, 19, 33]. Resumption of sexual activity following hip arthroplasty is safe as early as 1 month after surgery [19], although the timeframe to resume sexual activity can vary anywhere from 1 to 4 months after [7, 19]. However, careful consideration for safety in resuming sexual activity is imperative to avoid injury, particularly hip dislocation, which has occurred during sex [7]. In particular, individuals often have range of motion limitations of hip flexion greater than 90°, hip

adduction, and internal rotation, mandated by the surgeon to protect from dislocation. These precautions need to be acknowledged when providing advice regarding return to sexual activity-all individuals should avoid coital positions with large amounts of hip flexion, whether they are in position to receive or in position of penetration. As is the case in those with hip arthritis, cisgender women more often report needing to change their position during sex than cisgender men, as cisgender men can more often use similar positions to before surgery [33, 36]. However, in opposition to comfortable positions suggested above for patients with hip arthritis, positions which promote hip abduction and external rotation are actually preferred to place the hip joint in a more stable position and thus, lessen the risk for dislocation. Taking these principles into consideration, several positions are considered safe for individuals after hip arthroplasty [36]. The most recognized safe coital position after surgery is a position where both partners are standing, either upright, or with the receiving partner flexed slightly forward from the trunk, supported by their upper extremities [33, 36]. Other safe positions include rear entry positions such as both partners prone and, both partners sitting, with the receiving partner facing away. Some supine positions may also be safe and comfortable after surgery, such a missionary, or with the vaginal receptive individual on top facing the partner. However, some modifications for these positions need to be considered. For example, for a vaginal receptive individual in a traditional, face-to-face position, a pillow or wedge under the pelvis will work to raise the pelvis, placing the hips in more relative hip extension, thus avoiding a hip flexion position. In addition, for the insertive partner in this position, it will helpful to counsel individuals to extend their legs while on top of their partner to avoid hip flexion positions that are more likely to occur while on the knees. Some individuals may find that changing positions or the use of supports, such as pillows or wedges, may initially change the sexual experience for one or both partners, so it is also important to counsel patients to communicate with their partners during and after sex. In addition, the first sexual encounter after surgery or any sexual encounters early after surgery may be anxiety provoking for the partner who just had surgery. Again, encouraging individuals to communicate with their partners to communicate concerns will be paramount, and acknowledging that many patients have difficulty returning to sexual activity may provide needed comfort.

Millions of adults are living with low back pain, arthritis, and other injuries or diseased affecting the musculoskeletal system. Of these adults, nearly three quarters report that their injury or disease affects their sexual health and activity. Therefore, sex is a topic that cannot be overlooked during clinical encounters and should be part of routine care. We have described specific suggestions to guide such discussions. The principle of advising patients to find positions that avoid pain provocation through changing preferred positions, or using props to change positioning can be extrapolated to any individual living with pain or injury. However, it is also important to note that for some patients with musculoskeletal pain, intercourse may not always be possible. It may also be prudent to discuss with patients and have patients discuss with their partners, the idea of other means of sexual intimacy including oral sex, manual stimulation, and masturbation.

Neurologic Conditions: Considerations and Suggestions

Neurological disorders can alter sensory, integrative and motor abilities affecting capacities for self-care, functional mobility, work, and recreation. Ultimately, neurological disorders may alter relationships and quality of life. Neurological disease frequently alters sexual response and activity, often to devastating degrees for patients and their partners. There are many neurological conditions known to alter sexual functioning, including but not limited to epilepsy, stroke, multiple sclerosis, Parkinson's disease, neuropathies, traumatic brain, and spinal cord injury [4, 6]. Here we will focus on spinal cord injury, stroke, and the degenerative condition of Parkinson's disease. These conditions will collectively serve to illustrate problems of physical ability and sexual activity. Clinicians may relate the suggestions to other pathologies and associated impairments.

Spinal Cord Injury

Spinal cord injury (SCI) prevalence is relatively low. However, its impact is profound. Currently, an estimated 282,000 persons are living with the consequences of SCI in the United States. The average age at time of injury has increased from 29 to 42 years, with males representing 80% of persons with SCI. Motor vehicle accidents account for the vast majority of SCI, followed by injury from falls, violence, and sports/recreational activity [37]. Much has been learned about sex and disability from this population due of the nature of the injury and the demographics predominately affected. SCI, primarily a traumatic event, leaves those affected with varying degrees of sensory loss, paralysis, and autonomic dysfunction from damage to the white and grey matter of the spinal cord. This consequentially affects multiple systems and participation in life [38]. During rehabilitation for SCI, common pressing questions arise about return to activity, namely, walking, self-care, sexual function, and reproductive abilities.

The Consortium for Spinal Cord Medicine has developed Clinical Practice Guidelines to comprehensively address rehabilitation and life after SCI, including sexuality [38]. The consortium recommends the use of the PLISSIT framework to encourage open and respectful communication. The guidelines emphasize maintaining dignity while matching the patient's readiness to learn about sexual function across the continuum of care. Evidence has shown that for people with SCI, there is an ideal time period that exists for sexual counseling between inpatient rehabilitation and 6 months after discharge. It is important to include sexual partners in these intervention sessions [39].

The level of a person's SCI correlates to a degree with the physiologic effects on sexual function. In the general population, cisgender men experience psychogenic, reflexogenic, and spontaneous erections. For cisgender men with complete upper motor neuron SCI above the level of T11, psychogenic erection typically does not

occur, but they may experience reflexogenic and spontaneous erections. For those with lower motor neuron injuries below T11, psychogenic arousal may be possible, but reflexive arousal typically is not. Clinicians can counsel about expectations, remind patients that actual abilities with physiologic sexual functioning will be unique, and advise about alternate forms of sexual expression—touching on sensate areas, masturbation, and the use of adaptive equipment for pleasure. Clinicians, including rehabilitation therapists, can help identify safety and appropriateness given hand function, general motor, sensory, and mobility abilities. Intensive therapy may be indicated for counseling, and to address fertility and reproduction.

SCI has an impact on the persons psychological, physiological, and physical abilities which may all have an impact upon sexual functioning. Individuals with SCI may have problems assuming positions for sex, physiologic disturbances with arousal, and changes in body image that interfere with sexuality [40]. Here we include specific suggestions, emphasizing those relating to physical activity. Early in rehabilitation, spinal precautions associated with fracture and surgical decompression and stabilization need be maintained to allow for healing and prevent injury. Clinicians can help identify and translate these precautions as related to sexual activity. As persons with SCI may require assistance with functional mobility and transfers, it is important to educate caregivers and patients about optimal positioning. This may include use of alternate positions for coitus in bed with accommodations for weakness and to protect skin and joints from injury. Additionally, this may include expanding activities for pleasure (i.e., mutual masturbation, oral sex, and the use of adaptive sexual aids). Positions that offer the most support and stability for the individual with SCI are recommended. Supine in bed and seated in the person's wheelchair can both allow for maximum stability and therefore safety. Optimally, persons with SCI and their partners can collaborate with health care providers to find solutions facilitating sexual participation. Rehabilitation therapists are encouraged to examine and understand a person's neurological and mobility status, readiness for sexual counseling, and individual goals related to sexual function. When appropriate, written educational materials may provide a tool for important collaborative conversations to address sexual wellbeing, positioning, equipment needs, and special considerations [41, 42].

Special considerations of skin integrity, care of bladder and bowel, and risk of autonomic dysreflexia are important in this population. Providers can help individuals with SCI identify and understand safety and risks related to skin integrity. It is important to protect and inspect areas of insensate skin that are potentially exposed to friction and shear during sexual activities. Things to consider include surfaces that allow for stability and mobility while also protecting skin and joints. Firm mattresses, while facilitating transfers and bed mobility, may be uncomfortable for a person with sensory loss and joint pain. Adaptive equipment such as wedges and thigh slings can help compensate for paralysis and make the physical activity of sex more accessible. Rehabilitation specialists can help to ascertain weight limits and safety precautions for couples engaging sexually in the wheelchair, provide examples of wedges for position, and link an individual's neurological status and mobility skills to the physical abilities involved in sexual activity.

Primary care clinicians should discuss the risk of autonomic dysreflexia and functioning of bowel and bladder as related to sexual activity with individuals with SCI. During sexual activity, able-bodied persons are known to experience moderate increases in blood pressure, but those with SCI particularly at higher levels (above T6) with intense stimulation have increased likelihood for the hyperreflexive response known as autonomic dysreflexia (AD) wherein blood pressure quickly escalates to life threatening levels [43]. AD can by managed by couples recognizing symptoms (goosebumps, headache, lightheadedness) and contributing factors (UTI, full bowel or bladder, presence of aggressive, or noxious sensory stimuli). Most importantly, couples need to know how to manage AD should it occur. To manage the symptoms of AD, sit the individual with SCI upright, and remove or decrease any contributing factors.

Incontinence is a concern for individuals with SCI, but does not necessarily restrict sexual activity [44]. Bladder management options after SCI include self-catheterization, the use of an indwelling catheter, and suprapubic catheters. Sexual activity is possible with all types, and as such, providers should work to assist the individual with SCI in choosing the option that maximizes health, function, and personal desires. Suprapubic catheters can make sexual activity easier, as they provide an alternate route to the bladder, leaving the genitals free for sexual stimulation. For those who self-catheterize, voiding prior to sex may be helpful. However, some cisgender men with SCI find a full bladder assists with achieving erection, while others report it impairs erectile function [44]. In this case clinicians should caution patients that a full bladder may increase likelihood of AD. Clinicians should encourage persons with SCI to explore to determine their best individual practice and to have contingency plans in place to address incontinence and AD should either or both occur.

Stroke

Stroke is a leading cause of death and disability. With an aging population and advanced medical treatments, large numbers of adults survive stroke [45]. Following stroke an individual may be left with weakness, sensory loss, spasticity, and fatigue making mobility and activities of daily living difficult. Studies have shown that sexual functioning is also impaired. Many persons with even mild stroke report problems with sexual functioning and consequences increase with severity [46]. While the majority of couples experience decreases in their sexual life after stroke, some identified a positive impact from learning slow down and to be mindful and more accepting of their partner [8]. Barriers to sexual function following stroke may be physical, psychosocial, or psychological in nature. Further, problems with sexual functioning may be the result of medication side effects or comorbid conditions. Frequently, multiple domains need to be addressed [47-49]. Examples of psychosocial barriers after stroke include loss of identity and shifts in relational or caretaking roles. Depression, a known frequent consequence of stroke, and the medications used to treat depression can diminish sex drive. Likewise, antihypertensive and lipid-lowering medications are known to have similar side effects. Regardless of causation, survivors of stroke and their partners desire counseling about sexual dysfunction and activity [9].

Approaches by healthcare professionals to addressing these needs are varied but mostly lacking [48]. Studies have identified personal level of comfort, lack of

knowledge, perceptions and fears of patient responses to talking about sex, and unsupportive rehabilitative environments as barriers to effectively engaging with patients to address sexual health following stroke [49]. Primary care clinicians caring for patients after stroke should consider timing regarding inquiry about and counseling for sexual function. There are mixed reports with some persons wanting this information readily in acute care and others with preferences for later in outpatient settings. However, 71% of patients wish to receive counseling within 1-year post stroke [9]. Primary care clinicians can use the PLISSIT model discussed above to initial conversations about sexual activity after stroke. As with other populations, giving permission to discuss sexual health and providing preliminary information that helps patients understand the relationship of their current health condition to sexual functioning is helpful. Encourage patients to assess their own attitudes and feelings about sex after stroke and to talk with their partner(s) and to clinicians. One general recommendation is to plan ahead for sex and allow more time. This may be an adjustment for patients and their partners who have previously enjoyed spontaneity with sex but can address many of the known and potential problems such as fatigue, pain, and incontinence that can occur following stroke.

Commonly following stroke, individuals experience hemiplegia, balance problems, and decreased endurance for activity. Ninety-four percent of people with stroke identify these types of physical limitations as limiting sexual activity [9]. Positions of supine and side lying are recommended as compensatory to provide stability and safety. Bolsters and pillows may be helpful to protect limbs and joints while positioning for comfort and pleasure. Both the individual with stroke and their partner(s) should be aware of insensate areas and counseled to inspect skin that is subject to shear and friction from sexual activity.

In general, a willingness of providers to address sexual activity and provide any written materials has been demonstrated as effective as specific and structured sexual rehabilitation programming [50]. This is promising as providers may be most comfortable with giving permission and limited information but health systems don't always allow time for specific recommendations. Some examples of printable educational materials available online are included (Table 12.1) [48].

			U
Website	Document title	Year	Weblink
National Stroke Association	Recovery After Stroke: Redefining Sexuality	2006	http://www.stroke.org/stroke-resources/ library/redefining-sexuality
United States Department of Veterans Affairs	RESCUE Resources and Education for Stroke Caregivers Understanding and Empowerment	2016	http://www.stroke.org/stroke-resources/ library/redefining-sexuality
The Stroke Association	Sex After Stroke	2017	https://www.stroke.org.uk/sites/default/ files/sex_after_stroke.pdf

Table 12.1 Printable online materials for stroke survivors and caregivers

Adapted from Hamam et al. [48]

Degenerative Neurological Conditions

Degenerative neurological conditions such as Parkinson's disease (PD), multiple sclerosis (MS), and Alzheimer's disease (AD) systematically progress in morbidity, typically with advancing degrees of disability. Persons with such neurodegenerative disorders may experience progressive loss of abilities with locomotion, transfers, mobility, communication, independence with self-care, and ability to carry out activities of daily living changes. Similarly, sexual responses and abilities are altered [11].

Parkinson's disease (PD) affects approximately 1% of Americans older than 60 years, and an estimated 4% of the oldest Americans are now diagnosed with PD. This prevalence is anticipated to double by 2030 [51]. Sexual function may be affected directly by PD, made difficult by the condition's motor impairments (bradykinesia, tremor, rigidity, loss of dexterity) or secondarily by non-motor symptoms of the disease. Non-motor symptoms such as drooling (hypersalivation), pain, fatigue, sleep disturbances, and autonomic dysfunction are known to be troublesome to people with PD. Further, consequences of comorbid conditions and/or side effects of medications can impair sexual functioning. Cisgender men with PD report erectile dysfunction with studies identifying 50-70% having difficulty maintaining an erection. Cisgender women with PD, when compared to aged matched controls, experience more vaginal tightness, decreased lubrication, involuntary urination, and overall a dissatisfaction with sex [4]. Clinicians can help individuals with PD by normalizing conversations about sexual health, considering medication therapies, recommending the use of lubricants and reminders to void prior to sex. Clinicians should investigate complicating factors and be prepared to refer for intensive therapies if indicated. The motor symptoms of PD (rigidity, bradykinesia, decreased fine motor control) tend to be worse in the evening and subject to medication on-off times and may interfere with sexual activity. Encouraging couples to plan for intimacy in relationship to these fluctuations may be helpful. Additionally, suggestions about outercourse (experiencing sexual pleasure without concern for erection, orgasm or intercourse) are also advised for those seeking intimacy but with impaired genital functioning. Satisfaction with sexual activity is negatively affected by the presence of motor symptoms, anxiety, and depression [4]. It is important, then, that primary care clinicians address motor symptoms and mood in PD. Physical therapy and exercise are known to benefit people with PD [52]. Recommending therapy and activity can enable individuals with PD to manage their health condition and improve physical mobility for activity and participation, including sexual activity.

Medical Conditions: Considerations and Suggestions

Individuals with cardiovascular disease (CVD) face challenges with endurance and exercise tolerance, which includes sexual activity. A concern that arises in patients with medical conditions and their partners is the fear that sexual activity can cause

another event such as stroke, heart attack, or death. However, the link between coitus and stroke is not well established [47]. A known patent foramen ovale, post-coital headache, and severe headache with orgasm are associated with an increased risk for stroke with sexual activity. In an analysis of love-death (death associated with sexual activity), several risk factors were identified—preexisting coronary heart disease and myocardial infarction, high body mass index, and elevated heart rate [53].

The American Heart Association recommends that patients with cardiovascular disease (CVD) wishing to resume sexual activity undergo a physical examination, including exercise stress testing, if indicated [54]. Sexual activity is considered safe for patients who are able to exercise at a level of 3–5 METS, which is equivalent to walking up a flight of stairs, without angina or dyspnea. Encouraging cardiac rehabilitation and regular cardiovascular exercise is recommended to reduce risk of cardiovascular complications during sex. Clinicians should engage in conversations with patients about sexual activity and can counsel about engaging in sexual activities that are less energy demanding. One suggestion is to begin with lower level energy expending activities of hugging, kissing, and sexual touching have the lowest energy expenditures, whereas vaginal and anal intercourse have the highest energy expenditures [55]. Lastly, patients may need to be counseled to defer resumption of sexual activity until their medical condition is stable [54].

Conclusion

Sexual health, an important component of whole health, is affected by physical abilities. Many adults are dealing with health conditions that impair physical activity. It is estimated that one-half of adults are affected by chronic conditions, such as arthritis, stroke, or heart disease [56]. These conditions, degenerative neurological conditions and traumatic injuries, are all known to have deleterious effects on sexual health and activity.

Primary care clinicians should include conversations about sexual health in caring for the whole individual.

References

- Council WAfSHA. Declaration of sexual rights. 2014. http://www.worldsexology.org/ wp-content/uploads/2013/08/declaration_of_sexual_rights_sep03_2014.pdf. Accessed 21 Dec 2017.
- Stock SR, Cole DC, Tugwell P, Streiner D. Review of applicability of existing functional status measures to the study of workers with musculoskeletal disorders of the neck and upper limb. Am J Ind Med. 1996;29(6):679–88.

- Organization WH. ICF browser. 2017. http://apps.who.int/classifications/icfbrowser/. Accessed 10 Jan 2018.
- 4. Bronner G, Aharon-Peretz J, Hassin-Baer S. Sexuality in patients with Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, and other dementias. Handb Clin Neurol. 2015;130:297–323.
- Bahouq H, Allali F, Rkain H, Hajjaj-Hassouni N. Discussing sexual concerns with chronic low back pain patients: barriers and patients' expectations. Clin Rheumatol. 2013;32(10):1487–92.
- Courtois F, Gerard M, Charvier K, Vodusek DB, Amarenco G. Assessment of sexual function in women with neurological disorders: a review. Ann Phys Rehabil Med. 2018;61(4):235–44.
- Dahm DL, Jacofsky D, Lewallen DG. Surgeons rarely discuss sexual activity with patients after THA: a survey of members of the American Association of Hip and Knee Surgeons. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2004;(428):237–40.
- Nilsson MI, Fugl-Meyer K, von Koch L, Ytterberg C. Experiences of sexuality six years after stroke: a qualitative study. J Sex Med. 2017;14(6):797–803.
- Stein J, Hillinger M, Clancy C, Bishop L. Sexuality after stroke: patient counseling preferences. Disabil Rehabil. 2013;35(21):1842–7.
- Steinke EE, Jaarsma T, Barnason SA, et al. Sexual counselling for individuals with cardiovascular disease and their partners: a consensus document from the American Heart Association and the ESC Council on Cardiovascular Nursing and Allied Professions (CCNAP). Eur Heart J. 2013;34(41):3217–35.
- Rees PM, Fowler CJ, Maas CP. Sexual function in men and women with neurological disorders. Lancet. 2007;369(9560):512–25.
- Mick J, Hughes M, Cohen MZ. Using the BETTER model to assess sexuality. Clin J Oncol Nurs. 2004;8(1):84–6.
- 13. Annon JS. The PLISSIT model: a proposed conceptual scheme for the behavioral treatment of sexual problems. J Sex Educ Ther. 1976;2(1):1–15.
- 14. Pharr JR. Accommodations for patients with disabilities in primary care: a mixed methods study of practice administrators. Glob J Health Sci. 2013;6(1):23–32.
- Andersson G. Spine: low back and neck pain. 2014. http://www.boneandjointburden.org/2014report/ii0/spine-low-back-and-neck-pain. Accessed 11 Jan 2018.
- Pollack AN. Injuries. 2014. http://www.boneandjointburden.org/2014-report/vi0/injuries. Accessed 11 Jan 2018.
- Barbour KE, Helmick CG, Boring M, Brady TJ. Vital signs: prevalence of doctor-diagnosed arthritis and arthritis-attributable activity limitation - United States, 2013-2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2017;66(9):246–53.
- 18. Campbell P, Jordan KP, Dunn KM. The role of relationship quality and perceived partner responses with pain and disability in those with back pain. Pain Med. 2012;13(2):204–14.
- Issa K, Pierce TP, Brothers A, Festa A, Scillia AJ, Mont MA. Sexual activity after total hip arthroplasty: a systematic review of the outcomes. J Arthroplast. 2017;32(1):336–40.
- Kazarian GS, Lonner JH, Hozack WJ, Woodward L, Chen AF. Improvements in sexual activity after total knee arthroplasty. J Arthroplast. 2017;32(4):1159–63.
- 21. Maigne JY, Chatellier G. Assessment of sexual activity in patients with back pain compared with patients with neck pain. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2001;385:82–7.
- 22. Froud R, Patterson S, Eldridge S, et al. A systematic review and meta-synthesis of the impact of low back pain on people's lives. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2014;15:50.
- Brennan GP, Fritz JM, Hunter SJ, Thackeray A, Delitto A, Erhard RE. Identifying subgroups of patients with acute/subacute "nonspecific" low back pain: results of a randomized clinical trial. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2006;31(6):623–31.
- 24. Sidorkewicz N, McGill SM. Male spine motion during coitus: implications for the low back pain patient. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2014;39(20):1633–9.
- Sidorkewicz N, McGill SM. Documenting female spine motion during coitus with a commentary on the implications for the low back pain patient. Eur Spine J. 2015;24(3):513–20.

- Hootman JM, Helmick CG, Barbour KE, Theis KA, Boring MA. Updated projected prevalence of self-reported doctor-diagnosed arthritis and arthritis-attributable activity limitation among US adults, 2015–2040. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2016;68(7):1582–7.
- Salaffi F, Carotti M, Grassi W. Health-related quality of life in patients with hip or knee osteoarthritis: comparison of generic and disease-specific instruments. Clin Rheumatol. 2005;24(1):29–37.
- Rydevik K, Fernandes L, Nordsletten L, Risberg MA. Functioning and disability in patients with hip osteoarthritis with mild to moderate pain. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2010;40(10):616–24.
- 29. Rasch A, Dalen N, Berg HE. Muscle strength, gait, and balance in 20 patients with hip osteoarthritis followed for 2 years after THA. Acta Orthop. 2010;81(2):183–8.
- van Dijk GM, Veenhof C, Spreeuwenberg P, et al. Prognosis of limitations in activities in osteoarthritis of the hip or knee: a 3-year cohort study. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2010;91(1):58–66.
- Vissers MM, Bussmann JB, de Groot IB, Verhaar JA, Reijman M. Walking and chair rising performed in the daily life situation before and after total hip arthroplasty. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2011;19(9):1102–7.
- 32. Veenhof C, Huisman PA, Barten JA, Takken T, Pisters MF. Factors associated with physical activity in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip or knee: a systematic review. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2012;20(1):6–12.
- Laffosse JM, Tricoire JL, Chiron P, Puget J. Sexual function before and after primary total hip arthroplasty. Joint Bone Spine. 2008;75(2):189–94.
- 34. Lavernia CJ, Villa JM. High rates of interest in sex in patients with hip arthritis. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2016;474(2):293–9.
- Kelmanovich D, Parks ML, Sinha R, Macaulay W. Surgical approaches to total hip arthroplasty. J South Orthop Assoc. 2003;12(2):90–4.
- Charbonnier C, Chague S, Ponzoni M, Bernardoni M, Hoffmeyer P, Christofilopoulos P. Sexual activity after total hip arthroplasty: a motion capture study. J Arthroplast. 2014;29(3):640–7.
- Center NSCIS. Spinal cord injury facts and figures at a glance. 2016. www.nscisc.uab.edu/ Public/Facts%202016.pdf. Accessed 13 Dec 2017.
- Medicine CfSC. Clinical practice guidelines. 2010. www.pva.org/publications/clinicalpractice-guidelines. Accessed 13 Dec 2017.
- Fisher TL, Laud PW, Byfield MG, Brown TT, Hayat MJ, Fiedler IG. Sexual health after spinal cord injury: a longitudinal study. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2002;83(8):1043–51.
- 40. Connell KM, Coates R, Wood FM. Sexuality following trauma injury: a literature review. Burns Trauma. 2014;2(2):61–70.
- 41. Naphtali K. pleasureABLE. In: Network DHR, ed2009.
- 42. Baer RW. Is Fred dead? A manual on sexuality for men with spinal cord injuries. First ed. Pittsburgh: Dorrance Publishing Co; 2003.
- Davidson R, Elliott S, Krassioukov A. Cardiovascular responses to sexual activity in able-bodied individuals and those living with spinal cord injury. J Neurotrauma. 2016;33(24):2161–74.
- 44. Anderson KD, Borisoff JF, Johnson RD, Stiens SA, Elliott SL. Long-term effects of spinal cord injury on sexual function in men: implications for neuroplasticity. Spinal Cord. 2007;45(5):338–48.
- 45. Prevention CfDCa. Stroke facts. 2017. www.cdc.gov/stroke/facts.htm. Accessed 14 Dec 2017.
- Seymour LM, Wolf TJ. Participation changes in sexual functioning after mild stroke. OTJR (Thorofare N J). 2014;34(2):72–80.
- 47. Boller F, Agrawal K, Romano A. Sexual function after strokes. Handb Clin Neurol. 2015;130:289–95.
- Hamam N, McCluskey A, Cooper Robbins S. Sex after stroke: a content analysis of printable educational materials available online. Int J Stroke. 2013;8(7):518–28.
- 49. Richards A, Dean R, Burgess GH, Caird H. Sexuality after stroke: an exploration of current professional approaches, barriers to providing support and future directions. Disabil Rehabil. 2016;38(15):1471–82.

- Ng L, Sansom J, Zhang N, Amatya B, Khan F. Effectiveness of a structured sexual rehabilitation programme following stroke: a randomized controlled trial. J Rehabil Med. 2017;49(4):333–40.
- Gisbert R, Schenkman M. Physical therapist interventions for Parkinson disease. Phys Ther. 2015;95(3):299–305.
- Tomlinson CL, Herd CP, Clarke CE, et al. Physiotherapy for Parkinson's disease: a comparison of techniques. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;(6):Cd002815.
- Lange L, Zedler B, Verhoff MA, Parzeller M. Love death-a retrospective and prospective follow-up mortality study over 45 years. J Sex Med. 2017;14(10):1226–31.
- Levine GN, Steinke EE, Bakaeen FG, et al. Sexual activity and cardiovascular disease: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2012;125(8):1058–72.
- 55. Steinke EE, Johansen PP, Dusenbury W. When the topic turns to sex: case scenarios in sexual counseling and cardiovascular disease. J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev. 2015;36(3):145–56.
- Prevention CfDCa. Chronic disease overview. 2017. https://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/ overview/index.htm. Accessed 15 Jan 2018.